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84TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
Ellen Melville Centre, High St, Auckland Central
Saturday May 26, 2018
AGENDA
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Apologies
Empty Chair (PEN NZ Inc)
Minutes of the 2017 83rd AGM
Matters Arising
President's Report
National Office Reports:
CEO Report
Programmes and Awards
Financial Report and
Financial and Audited Consolidated Accounts 2017
7. Annual Branch Reports
Otago Southland
Canterbury
Top of the South
Wellington
Central Districts
Hamilton
Auckland
Northland
8. Representatives’ Reports
Book Awards Trust
Copyright Licensing New Zealand
NorthTec LAC report
PEN New Zealand Report
PEN WiP report
Public Lending Right
Robert Burns Fellowship
Sector Steering Group
We Create
Whitirea
9. Confirmation of President of Honour 2018‐2019
10. Ratification of Delegates
11. Remits
a. Hamilton branch – proposal for officeholders to receive
complimentary membership
b. Rewording of the Constitution to clarify branch processes,
removal of reference to the PEN Trust, nomenclature.
12. Other business
a. Appointment of auditor 2018
b. Confirmation of location for the 2019 AGM [Nelson/Dunedin)
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NZSA AGM 2018
Pen: the EMPTY CHAIR
STATUS: DETAINED

GUI MINHAI

CHINA

Gui Minhai, a Swedish citizen, is co‐owner of the Mighty Current publishing house—
famed for producing books that delve into the private lives of China’s leadership—
and a writer, publisher, and former Independent Chinese PEN Centre (ICPC) Board
member. Gui disappeared from his beach house in Thailand on October 17, 2015 and
later resurfaced in mainland China; it is believed that he was abducted and brought to
China against his will. On January 17, 2016, the Chinese state‐run channel CCTV aired
a videotaped statement by Gui in which he claimed he went to the mainland
voluntarily, but observers believe that his confession was forced. Since then, he has remained in detention,
with almost no access to visits by Swedish consular officials, and no contact with his family.
Gui Minhai is a poet, author, and book publisher, and is one of the “Causeway Bay Bookstore Five,” a group of
five booksellers affiliated with Causeway Bay Books and its owner, Mighty Current Media. All five booksellers
disappeared under mysterious circumstances in late 2015, only to later reappear in Chinese state custody in
mainland China. The evidence clearly demonstrates that Chinese security agents were responsible for these
disappearances.
Mighty Current Media is a Hong Kong‐based publishing company best known for its sensational books about
Chinese leaders’ private lives. Such books are banned in mainland China, but legal in Hong Kong. Causeway Bay
Bookstore was similarly well‐known as a bookstore offering such banned books. Between October and
December 2015, five men affiliated with Causeway Bay and Mighty Current disappeared:






Cheung Chi‐ping, the business manager of Mighty Current;
Lui Por, the general manager and one of three co‐owners of Mighty Current;
Lam Wing‐kee, the manager of Causeway Bay Books (and founder and owner of the bookstore prior
to its acquisition by Mighty Current in 2014);
Lee Bo, an editor at Mighty Current; and
Gui Minhai, a co‐owner and publisher of Mighty Current.

Gui Minhai, a Swedish citizen who reportedly renounced his Chinese citizenship decades ago, disappeared
from his vacation home in Pattaya, Thailand on October 17, 2015. He re‐appeared months later in Chinese
custody. Gui and his colleagues later appeared in a set of “confessional videos” that—all evidence indicates—
were scripted and staged by government authorities.
In the months since, four of the five booksellers—all but Gui Minhai—were released from detention, though
they remain under the coercive power of the Chinese state. Gui Minhai remains in detention, separated from
his friends and family and without access to a lawyer, despite the apparent absence of any formal legal
charges against him. The Chinese government has still not offered any satisfactory account of how he and his
colleagues disappeared only to re‐emerge in Chinese custody. The Swedish consulate has been allowed one
visit in 2016, and have not been able to visit him since.

FREE EXPRESSION IN CHINA
In recent years, addressing the dire situation for free expression in China has been one of PEN America’s
signature campaigns. With the world’s largest population, and with increased economic and political heft,
China’s extensive censorship apparatus limits speech both within and outside its borders. Although new digital
platforms have expanded the means of expression, they have also provided more opportunities for repression:
in China, even a simple Tweet can land its author in jail. Since President Xi Jinping took office in early 2013, he
has overseen an extensive crackdown on free speech, implementing additional laws and censorship controls
on the Internet, media, and publishers. In addition, individual Chinese writers, journalists, and creative artists
have been censored, harassed, imprisoned, and even disappeared after they speak out about sensitive topics
such as the rights of ethnic and religious minorities, corruption, and the lack of democratic reform. Several
dozen are currently behind bars because of their writings or creative expression.
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Minutes of the 83rd Annual General Meeting of
The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
3.30pm Saturday 27 May 2017
Malthouse Theatre, Colombo St., Christchurch
Present:
Robyn Anderson, Ray Berard, Paula Browning, David Burke‐Kennedy, Belinda Carter, Tracy
Chollet, Jackie Dennis, Melanie Dixon, Lee Fraser, Kathleen Gallagher, Philippa Graham,
Tracey Haimes, Siobhan Harvey, Jenny Howarth, Jill McCaw, Michele McConnochie, Anna
Mackenzie, Kyle Mewburn, Helen Mongillo, Amy Paulussen, Trish Robinson, Vanda Symon,
Jack Titner, Brent Trethewey, Sarah van Eyndhoven, Juliana Venning, Phil Walsh, Philippa
Werry, Felicity Williams.
Apologies:
Christopher Abbey, Linda Donald, Bronwyn Elsmore, Claire Hill, Jane Hole, Jill Rawnsley,
Catherine Robertson, Mary‐anne Scott.
PEN International ‐ Empty Chair
Yahya al‐Jubaihi, a prominent Yemeni writer and journalist, currently detained and
sentenced to death on 12 April 2017 by a Houthi court in Sana’a after a grossly unfair trial.
This is the first time a death sentence has been issued under Houthi authority against a
writer. According to news reports, his arrest (on 6 September 2016) was due to newspaper
articles in which he criticised Houthi raids and invasions of some regions in Yemen.
Minutes of the 2016 AGM:
The Minutes were opened for discussion.
Received –Anna Mackenzie, second – Vanda Symon
CARRIED

The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.)
PO Box 7701, Wellesley Street, Auckland 1141
Ph (09) 379 4801 www.authors.org.nz
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Matters Arising:
There were no Matters Arising.

President’s Report:
The President's Report had been previously circulated on the website.
The Report was opened for discussion.
Notable highlights included the success of the National Writers Forum, largely thanks to
Jackie Dennis, and the amount of advocacy work that goes on behind the scenes.
It was moved that the report be accepted.
Received – Vanda Symon, second – Amy Paulussen
CARRIED
Chief Executive Officer’s Report including Programmes and Awards
The Chief Executive’s Report had been previously circulated on the website.

It was moved that the reports be accepted.
Received – Philippa Werry, second – Anna Mackenzie
CARRIED
Kyle Mewburn expressed thanks on behalf of the organisation to Jackie Dennis for her
excellent work as CEO over the last four years. These comments were greeted with a round
of applause.
Financial Statements:
The Financial Statements were opened for discussion. Kathleen Gallagher commented that
Jackie Dennis as CEO had done an amazing job with limited resources.
A motion to receive the Financial Statements was moved by the Chair.
CARRIED
Branch Reports:
Branch reports were opened for discussion.
A motion to accept the Branch reports was moved by the Chair.
The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.)
PO Box 7701, Wellesley Street, Auckland 1141
Ph (09) 379 4801 www.authors.org.nz
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CARRIED
Representatives' Reports:
The Representatives’ Reports were opened for discussion.
It was noted that each representative's position is now nationally advertised for, and any member
can submit an application.
A motion to accept the Representatives’ reports was moved by the Chair.

CARRIED
President‐of‐Honour for 2017‐18:
It was moved by the Chair that Bernard Brown be accepted as President of Honour for 2017 ‐ 2018.
CARRIED
Ratification of President:
It was moved that Siobhan Harvey be ratified as the new President.

Received – Anna Mackenzie, second – Philippa Werry
CARRIED
This appointment was greeted with applause. Siobhan Harvey then took over the Chair.
Ratification of Delegates:
Vanda Symon for Southland / Central Otago, Ray Berard for Central and Northern South Island,
Philippa Werry for Wellington Region, Anna Mackenzie for Central Districts and David Burke‐
Kennedy for Northern Districts, North Island.
A motion to ratify these Delegates was moved by the Chair.
CARRIED
Remits:
Amendment to Constitution following the dissolution of the Charitable Trust:
This remit removes the Charitable Trust from the constitution, as voted on at last year's AGM. Clause
3 will then become Clause 2, etc.
It was moved by the Chair that this remit be accepted.

The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.)
PO Box 7701, Wellesley Street, Auckland 1141
Ph (09) 379 4801 www.authors.org.nz

6

CARRIED
Amendment to Constitution to clarify meeting requirements for National Council:
This remit allows for NC to meet at any time, as required, including by conference call or online
discussion forum.
It was moved by the Chair that this remit be accepted.
CARRIED
Other Business:
Reappointment of Auditors:
Moved by the chair that we stay with the same auditors, but allow the new CEO time to review their
appointment if this is felt necessary.
CARRIED
Paula Browning, CLNZ:
Paula Browning, CEO of Copyright Licensing New Zealand, addressed the meeting to talk about the
work of CLNZ.

Venue for next AGM :
Auckland Branch will host the 2018 AGM.

With no further matters arising, the 83rd Annual General Meeting of the New Zealand Society of
Authors (PEN NZ Inc.) closed at 4.40pm

Signed ……………………………………………

Siobhan Harvey, President

Date………………………………….

The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.)
PO Box 7701, Wellesley Street, Auckland 1141
Ph (09) 379 4801 www.authors.org.nz
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PRESIDENTS REPORT – New Zealand Society of Authors AGM 2018: MAY
The New Zealand Society of Authors is a fundamental part of the literary environment in this
country. We offer our members a range of career sustaining opportunities, work, important
information (through our fortnightly email) and crucial advice connected to contracts and
publishing.
We also occupy key stakeholder roles in other partner organisations such as New Zealand Book
Awards Trust and Copyright Licensing New Zealand. This past year has been one of transition,
pressure, sustenance and growth. This year, I am proud of the important role the New Zealand
Society of Authors plays in our authors and stakeholders’ existences, and in our organisation’s
ability to expand its influence and services in difficult financial times.
Key areas of transition, pressure sustenance and growth are:
a) Staffing changes – Last May saw the departure of key staff: Jackie Dennis, CEO and Kyle
Mewburn, President. We thank Jackie and Kyle for the robust contributions to the
prosperity of our organisation. The departure of any staff, but particularly key, highlevel personnel such as these always creates challenges. Coming into replace Kyle, I
undertook the CEO appoint process. Until that appointment, National Office was staffed
by Jill Rawnsley, a capable literary/ art organisation operative. With Jenny Nagle
appointed and welcomed aboard as new CEO, staff handover processes, meetings and
time for enablement and settlement were needed
b) Growth of membership – Given this transition, it is heartening to know that in the last
year our membership has grown. Jenny has done a lot of work visiting branches.
Through various meetings and interactions, I have also spread the message of
membership benefits. Membership currently stands at just over 1500. National Office
staff and I will continue to support any opportunities we can where there’s an
opportunity to grow membership;

c) New services – our wonderful range of existing services – competitions, awards,
residencies and mentorships have been maintained. We have grown our awards
services with the new Michael Gifkins Award for an Unpublished Manuscript. This award
has proven extremely popular and, with our partners, we will explore the possibility of
maintaining this important new addition to the literary landscape;
d) Working with stakeholders and key partners – positive ongoing working relationships
have been the hallmark of the last year. New Zealand Book Council; PANZ; CLNZ; the
New Zealand Book Awards Trust: we have built and maintained positive engagements
with these organisations, their staff and board members. NZSA’s Board members upon
organisations like Copyright Licensing NZ and the New Zealand Book Awards Trust offer
strong, experienced voices. CEOs of these organisations report to me that our Board
members make very positive contributions to their good governance;
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e) Finances – the past year has been one of financial challenges. Our focus always is to run
a balanced budget; and with that in mind we have renewed our very competitive lease
for National Office. However, like most small arts organisations in this country, we have
found our funding maintained at static levels (even decreasing when inflation is taken
into account). We remain committed to bringing the budget into surplus in the year
ahead;
f)

Diversity – I remain strongly committed diversity in principle and practice. Too often,
this is a principle admirably expressed but disappointingly put into practice. In the past
year, the New Zealand Society of Authors has instituted a policy of diversity in all its
engagements. The composition of our panel members for mentorships and awards have
actively represented diversity. The long list judges (James George and Jill Rawnsley) and
short-list judges (Patricia Grace and Lloyd Jones) for the Michael Gifkins Award, for
instance, represent this ongoing commitment. Currently we are formulating the
composition of the National Writers Forum; our commitment to diversity is at the core
of those we are engaging in over preliminary discussions and in our formulation of its
line-up

Nga mihi
Siobhan Harvey
President
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
Te Puni Kaituhi O Aotearoa

9

Chief Executive’s Report AGM 2018
Kia ora tatou. The 2017 year was one of change for this role, with Jackie Dennis in situ until April, then Jill Rawnsley
ably filling the post until my appointment in mid‐June. When I arrived, the submission to Creative New Zealand that
secured our baseline funding for 2018‐9 as a Kahikatea client had already been submitted and was successful.
Over the last few years NZSA membership has been going from strength to strength. This is due to the relevancy
and increased opportunities for members with the mentoring and assessment programmes; the establishment of
the National Writer’s Forum as a cornerstone of professional development for writers in NZ, alongside the
challenges of the new publishing environment in New Zealand and the increased advice and advocacy that is now
required for the writing profession. This includes the upskilling required for the 32% (at least) of our membership
who now self‐publish: for book production, editing, design and marketing advice, and services like our contract
advisory service and the promotional opportunities offered through social media and industry newsletters. The
increased numbers of entries for contestable grants and awards indicate those activities attract new members and
again are symptomatic of decreased opportunities for traditional publishing options.
I am delighted to report our membership is now over 1500 – the only time this was achieved previous, was in 2012
when NZ was the Country of Honour at Frankfurt, which attracted new members to the opportunities this showcase
offered with NZSA attendance at the Fair. It then declined to around 1300 and 2018 is the first time we have hit 1500
since. We expect to set a new high in membership over the next few months of we follow our current trend. I give
credit to the efforts of our regional branches to engage with members and offer speakers and events that attract
open and wider attendance and secure new membership, while retaining current members. Branches stand
alongside the efforts of national council and national office.
Advocacy during 2017 included:
Submission to MBEI on NZSA views to inform the issues paper for the Review of the Copyright Act. This remains the
biggest iceberg on the horizon, although the publication of that Issues paper has been delayed to circa August, due
to the change in government. The three cornerstones of our argument support:
1. Harmonisation of Term internationally
2. Reduction of Safe Harbours for Tech Giants to be accountable for copyright breach
3. The moral right of the author to choose what happens to their work and the right to fair reward
Issue 311 of NZ Author magazine was devoted to Copyright, to inform our membership of the arguments and for
use as an advocacy tool (multiple copies went to parliament and to MBEI).
We took the opportunity to have Paula Browning discuss Copyright Act review issues to a 100+ gathering of
NZSA members and law lecturers, judiciary and lawyers at Bernard Brown’s President of Honour, Janet Frame
Memorial Lecture address at Old Government House in Auckland.

‐
‐
‐
‐

Letters to and meetings with Auckland Libraries about staff and budget cuts and staff redeployment.
Meeting with PLR Kevin Moffatt to discuss the issues and changes hoped for with PLR for 2018: an increase in
funding, the inclusion of electronic rights.
Letters to all political parties pre‐election requesting arts policy.
Letter to the Accessibility Forum, PANZ and CLNZ re remuneration for content creators under the Marrakesh
Treaty (due to NZ’s particular redrafting of the legislation that significantly increases the numbers entitled to
free access).
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‐
‐

‐

‐
‐
‐

Agreement with Booksellers NZ to disseminate the New Books Bulletin to all their members. We also increased
our own database to include all library suppliers and head office book buyers.
Work (ongoing) with PANZ and CLNZ via the We Create sub‐group to prepare a report (with assistance from
NZIER funded by CLNZ) to provide a descriptive narrative and quantify the value chain throughout all aspects of
the writing and publishing world. This will form part of our collective and individual submissions for the
Copyright Act review.
We have promoted the benefits of NZSA membership via presentations at the Romance Writers Conference, the
biennial Storylines Hui, the Christchurch Free workshop series, the Northtec conference and at meetings of the
Hamilton and Otago/Southland branches. Individual members and NZSA office holders also promoted NZSA
membership through writing courses at AUT, UoA, Wintec, The Michael King Writer’s Centre Word conference,
Wellington LitCrawl and the Creative Hub.
The announcement of the Michael Gifkins Prize for an Unpublished Novel gave us the opportunity for a presence
at the Auckland Writers Festival to host an event with Text Publishing.
Cross‐sector meetings and introductions took place when I started the role with all relevant agencies such as
MKWC, CNZ, AWF, WC, Bksellers NZ, NZBC and Steering Group, PANZ, CLNZ, BAT, PLR.
Sector Steering Group: new NZBC CEO Jo Cribb has driven a new cross‐sector advocacy 3 stage plan to Promote
Books and Reading:
Stage 1 2017: Promoting literacy using PR and ambassadors on social media
Stage 2: 2018 Promoting READ NZ to showcase the cultural importance of reading our own stories to our cultural
identity – focusing on reinforcing the message through all literary arts events, social media and PR.
Stage 3: TBC

Ongoing projects 2017‐8:
‐ Securing funding for a new CIVI CRM database management system for memberships and administration
management.
‐ Planning and preparation for the National Writer’s Forum September 21‐23, 2018 – Programme Manager
Kirsten le Harivel is busy finalising the programme for this year – and we aim to announce this in the next month.
‐ The Oral History project – work will be completed with podcasts launched on our website and a feature at the
NWF, focussing on NZSA whakapapa.
‐ Reapplication and new Investment Strategy Launch from Creative NZ – all organisations will be reviewed and
must reapply for funding including Totora and Kahikatea clients. CNZ are upbeat about the new government’
view of Culture and the Arts – that access to and participation in the arts, is a necessary part of the framework of
wellbeing for communities. The new government is giving CNZ some surety of funding and they hope for
increased funding through all levels of investment. The new priorities are 1. Diversity 2. Accessibility and 3.
Excellence – so we will need to have a complete review of all our programmes to ensure NZSA continues to meet
the priorities of that charter, as well as meeting the needs of our membership.
‐ The development of web‐based e‐learning modules.
Jenny Nagle Chief Executive Officer (from12 June 2017)
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Programmes and Awards Report for AGM May 2018
LITERARY MENTOR PROGRAMME
Selection Panel: Pippa Werry (con), James George, Daphne de Jong
The 2017 programme attracted 67 applications. 13 full mentorships and 2 half mentorships were
awarded.
Recipients: Helen Caldwell, Paul Chapman, Makyla Curtis, Michelle Elvy, Rachel Honey, Caoimhe
McKeogh, Nadine Millar, Wendy Nolan, Alex Stone, Judith Stanley, Simon Thomas, Jane Va’afusuaga,
and Gareth Ward.

COMIC / GRAPHIC NOVEL MENTOR PROGRAMME
Recipients: Joy Fu

YOUTH MENTOR PROGRAMME
Selection Panel: Anna Mackenzie (con), Ted Dawe, Tina Shaw
Four recipients were chosen for the mentor programme, each to receive 9hrs mentoring.
Recipients: Helen Oliver, Iona Manoa, Zak Devey, Aislinn Roodt.

COMPLETEMS PROGRAMME
Selection Panel: Penelope Todd (con), Alison Wong, Phillip Mann
We received 48 applications for this programme in 2017.
13 Recipients: Yvonne van Dongen, Helen Tau’au Filisi, Trina Saffioti, Gillian Roach, Rohan McLachlan,
Nicki Judkins, Jenna Heller, Ruth Hanover, Lynette Hagenson, Susan Edmunds, Riaz Dean, Whitney Cox,
and Nathan Bennett.

STARTWRITE ASSESSMENT SERVICE
All 28 subsidised Manuscript Appraisals were utilised in 2017. This remains a very successful and popular
programme with feedback sheets consistently extremely positive.

NZSA LILIAN IDA SMITH AWARD
Selection panel: Lee Murray (con), Paddy Richardson
Recipient: Paula Harris
87 entries were received for this award. The NZSA Lilian Ida Smith Award is biennial and will run again in
2019.
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THE PETER & DIANNE BEATSON FELLOWSHIP
Selection Panel: David Hill (con), Lesley Marshall, Catherine Robertson
19 applications were received for this fellowship.
Recipient: Jillian Sullivan

CLNZ / NZSA RESEARCH GRANTS
Selection Panel: Chris Else (con), Dr Susanna Lyle, David Veart
Recipients The Stout Research Grant was not awarded. Four Open Research Grants of $5,000 each were
awarded to James Robins, Phil Garnock‐Jones, Pip Hall, and Michalia Arathimos.
This grant was again co‐administered between CLNZ and NZSA in 2017. 30 applications were received

– 2 for the Stout Research Grant and 28 for the open grants.

NZSA/AUCKLAND MUSEUM RESEARCH GRANTS
Selection Panel: Rae McGregor (convener), Adam Moriarty (museum rep), Jennifer Haworth
National Grant Recipient: Joan Norlev Taylor. Auckland Regional Grant Recipient: Geoff Allen
8 applications were received for these grants.

HACHETTE MENTOR PROGRAM
83 applications were received for this program. In 2017 there were 41 applications.
Two recipients were chosen for the Mentor program: Isabelle McNeur and Elizabeth Allan.
In addition, three writers ‐ Julia Wall, Linda Collins‐McLeod and Dawn Pickens ‐ were
offered the opportunity to have their full manuscripts read by Hachette Australia.

MICHAEL GIFKINS PRIZE FOR AN UNPUBLISHED NOVEL
182 applications received. Longlist selectors: James George, Jill Rawnsley. Shortlist selectors:
Text Publishing. Final judges: Patricia Grace, Lloyd Jones.
The winner of this prize has not yet been announced.
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The audited accounts for the year to 31 December 2017 are available to members on our
website authors.org.nz and have been circulated to registered AGM attendees prior to the
AGM.
National Office

INCOME
The Writers Forum, as a biennial event, significantly impacts the Society’s income and
expenditure. National Office revenues, at $264,987, are significantly down on last year’s
$345,396, but in line with the real comparator, $267, 890 (income net of Forum revenue).
Member numbers closed the year on a rising trend, bringing subscription revenue close to
last year’s level. January 2017 membership revenue was again taken back into the 2016
earnings. This practice has now ceased and 2018 membership sub receipts will be actual for
the calendar year.
17 funding applications were submitted, 6 of them successful.

EXPENDITURE
Expenditure for 2017 was $277,023. Last year’s expenditure was $345,895, but the like for
like comparator, excluding Form expenditure, was $282,781. Cost have generally been
contained within last year’s levels. Unbudgeted costs include recruitment expenses for a
new CEO and the holiday pay cost for the outgoing CEO which had not been accrued in the
2016 accounts.

SURPLUS/DEFICIT
Expenditure exceeded revenue by $12,036. This represents a slight improvement on 2016,
where a deficit of $14,891 was offset by a $14,392 surplus from the Writers Forum.
The final reported deficit for 2017 is reduced by a correction to the GST liability recorded in
the 2016 balance sheet.

CONSOLIDATED P&L
The consolidated Profit & Loss account for 2017 shows a trading deficit of $13,659 before
tax and adjustments and a final deficit of $8,226.
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

GRANTS APPLIED FOR IN 2017
Funding applied for from

Amount requested $

Amount received $

Pub Charity

2,300

2,300

First Sovereign

2,946

2,946

Auckland Council

4,400

3,000

Internet NZ

15,000

-

Pub Charity

$2439

2439

First Sovereign

$7538

-

Air NZ

15,000

-

CLNZ

10,000

-

Unesco

15,000

-

Digital Matched Funds CNZ

3,000

3,000

Auckland Council #2 accmm

5,000

No reply yet

NZ Community Trust

12,000

-

CLNZ Digital Phase 2

12,000

No reply yet

6,555

-

750

-

CLNZ POH event

1000

1000

Pub Charity

1600

-

Southern Trust
NZ Community Post
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Annual Report
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Prepared by Kingston Accountants Limited
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off/c^418^! Auditor's Report
'ounse^o'^ for the Year Ended 31 December 2017
Qualified Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The New Zealand Society of Authors (Pen NZ Inc) on
pages 6 to 27, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, and the statements of profit
or loss and changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summaiy of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of our report, the accompanying financial statements are prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the accounting policies stated in Note 2.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Control over income from donations, prior to being recorded, is limited and there are no practical
audit procedures to determine the effect of this limited control.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand)

(ISAs C^Z)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Performance Report section of our report. We are independent of

The New Zealand Society of Authors (Pen NZ Inc) in accordance with Professional and Ethical
Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, The New Zealand

Society of Authors (Pen NZ Inc).
Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The
financial statements have been prepared for have been prepared for taxation purposes on the
principles contained in the Income Tax Act 2007, for the entity's members, and for internal
management purposes. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.

Restriction on Responsibility

This report is made solely to the Directors, as a body, in accordance with specify source of audit
duty, e.g. constitution of The New Zealand Society of Authors (Pen NZ Inc).

^
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Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Directors those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Directors as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible on behalf of the entity for determining that the Special Purpose
framework adopted is acceptable in The New Zealand Society of Authors (Pen NZ Inc)s
circumstances, the preparation of financial statements, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessaiy to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible on behalf of the entity for
assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs CNZ) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (NZ), we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Directors and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Hounsell Accounting Limited
Auckland

20 April 2018
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Directory & Entity Information
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Nature of Business & Entity Information

The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.) (NZSA) was established in 1934 as the New Zealand PEN Centre and remains
to this day the principal organisation for New Zealand authors. It is an approved non-profit organisation in accordance with
Section DJ 17 of the Income Tax Act 1994. NZSA is a membership based arts organisation, representing over 1,400 writers
nationally through our five regions, eight branches and many hubs. It is an incorporated society registered on 6 February 1947
formed under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908.
NZSA’s mission is to protect basic rights to freedom of expression, improve income and conditions for writers, promote New
Zealand writing and literary culture, and be a community for writers.
The management of the NZSA is vested in a National Council consisting of the National President and up to seven elected
Regional Delegates, and is the primary policy making body. The National Council has the power to:
•
•

Appoint a Management Committee consisting of the Chief Executive, a National Council member who is a signatory on the
bank accounts, and one full financial member
Delegate responsibilities to the branches.

Income is generated internally through group meetings and membership subscriptions,and externally through grants,
donations and events. NZSA regularly makes applications for funding. Branches regularly meet and create activities that raise
funds.

Registered Office
Level 14- Oracle Tower,56 Wakefield Street,Auckland Central,Auckland,New Zealand,1010
Website: http://authors.org.nz

Executive
President - Siobhan Harvey
Chief Executive - Jenny Nagle

Bankers
ANZ, BNZ, ASB, SBS & Paypal

Accountants
Kingston Accountants Limited, Birkenhead, Auckland

Auditor
Don Hounsell, Birkenhead, Auckland

Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - National Office
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is National Office.
NOTES

2017

2016

Administration fee

3,045

5,300

Advertising

4,379

5,352

Donations Received

2,063

825

Grants Received

97,042

125,328

Interest Received

1,774

1,976

NWF sponsorship & support

-

24,700

NWF Ticket sales

-

30,399

157

1,258

11,661

4,034

1,170

739

Trading Income

NZ Author subscriptions
Programme & Award Fees
Sale of Publications
StartWrite Service Fees
Subs from Members
Sundry Income

1,117

1,377

140,960

143,271

1,619

-

-

838

264,987

345,396

264,987

345,396

280

289

3,427

7,019

500

-

Assessment Programme

7,540

9,597

Audit Fees

7,000

4,498

-

139

Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit
Expenses
ACC Levy
Accountant
AGM Support

Bad Debts Expense
Bank Fees

1,236

898

Branch Support

11,970

14,290

Contractors

28,295

25,190

Depreciation with Adjustments

5,537

6,783

Design & Branding

3,250

4,571

171

-

9,522

10,000

-

353

Insurance

1,852

1,736

iT Support

3,879

387

Meeting Costs

3,883

1,751

Entertainment-non deductible
Honorariums
Income Tax Provision

National Writers Forum Event
Office Rental & Venue Hire
Office Expenses

-

51,168

8,400

8,000

930

2,128

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - National Office
NOTES

2017

2016

21,666

21,760

457

496

Postage & Distribution

5,320

7,358

Printing & Stationery

5,060

5,194

Prizes and Awards

2,787

3,000

-

1,000

Payments to Mentors
Payments to PEN

Professional Development
Promotion & Marketing

1,928

1,873

Purchase of Publications

412

157

Recruitment

651

-

5,595

3,173

-

9,341

Start Write assessment programme

4,259

4,369

Subscriptions and Levies

1,746

1,160

Telephone, Power & Broadband

1,937

1,901

Travel & Accommodation

5,731

2,658

119,479

131,872

2,324

1,785

277,023

345,895

(12,036)

(498)

5,589

-

-

27,477

(6,447)

26,979

Selection Panel, Judges
Speakers & Presenters

Wages & Salaries
Web Site Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year before adjustments
Prior Year Adjustments
Prior Year Adjustment - GST on conversion Xero
Prior Year Adjustment - Transfer from Grants & Bequests Held

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Auckland
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Auckland.
NOTES

2017

2016

3,531

2,490

Trading Income
Donations Received
Interest Received
NZSA Branch Assistance
Sundry Income
Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit

13

74

5,916

5,745

-

5,000

722

-

10,181

13,309

10,181

13,309

-

8,038

Expenses
Contractors
Donations Made
Meeting Costs
Office Expenses
Printing & Photocopy
Prizes and Awards
Promotion & Marketing

-

104

2,724

1,644

47

-

505

465

-

254

-

300

Speakers & Presenters

5,909

900

Sponsorships

2,000

-

23

-

11,208

11,706

(1,026)

1,603

Entertainment-non deductible
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Canterbury
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Canterbury.
NOTES

2017

2016

-

110

1,500

1,493

2

-

NZSA Branch Assistance

5,675

5,226

Programme & Award Fees

1,916

1,539

Trading Income
Donations Received
Grants Received
Interest Received

Sale of Publications

-

26

765

521

2,365

752

12,223

9,667

12,223

9,667

-

17

Contractors

2,400

3,857

Meeting Costs

3,116

762

Office Expenses

-

1,097

Printing & Stationery

-

74

2,511

1,075

-

474

375

975

3,746

-

Sundry Income
Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit
Expenses
Bank Fees

Prizes and Awards
Promotion & Marketing
Selection Panel, Judges
Speakers & Presenters
Travel & Accommodation
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

1,048

-

13,196

8,331

(973)

1,337

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Central Districts
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Central Districts.
NOTES

2017

2016

-

100

Trading Income
Grants Received
Interest Received

12

15

NZSA Branch Assistance

262

249

Total Trading Income

275

364

275

364

Donations Made

-

32

Prizes and Awards

-

200

Purchase of Publications

-

344

150

100

80

-

230

676

45

(312)

Gross Profit
Expenses

Speakers & Presenters
Travel & Accommodation
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)

27

Page 11 of 27

Statement of Profit or Loss - Hamilton
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Hamilton.
NOTES

2017

2016

297

142

Trading Income
Donations Received
Interest Received
NZSA Branch Assistance
Sundry Income
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit

1

-

86

76

-

153

384

371

384

371

-

100

97

218

Expenses
Donations Made
Meeting Costs
Office Rental & Venue Hire
Office Expenses
Prizes and Awards
Speakers & Presenters
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

174

-

-

106

70

-

43

-

384

424

-

(53)

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Northland
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Northland.
NOTES

2017

2016

Donation Received

36

-

Donations to NZSA

309

-

2

8

NZSA Branch Assistance

106

1,305

Sundry Income

609

-

Trading Income

Interest Received

Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit

200

365

1,261

1,678

1,261

1,678

Expenses
Branch Support

34

-

Donations Made

65

25

516

217

Meeting Costs
Office Expenses
Printing & Photocopy
Prizes and Awards
Promotion & Marketing

-

153

65

434

687

851

-

129

Selection Panel, Judges

90

435

Speakers & Presenters

200

1,057

Web Site Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

72

-

1,730

3,301

(469)

(1,623)

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Otago Southland
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Otago Southland.
NOTES

2017

2016

1,600

435

Trading Income
Grants Received
Interest Received
NZSA Branch Assistance
Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit

3

3

183

195

239

-

2,025

633

2,025

633

Expenses
Office Expenses
Selection Panel, Judges
Speakers & Presenters
Travel & Accommodation
Web Site Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

-

148

87

-

1,880

435

-

43

90

-

2,057

626

(32)

7

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Top of the South
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Top of the South.
NOTES

2017

2016

61

52

132

67

21

35

Trading Income
Advertising
Donations to NZSA
Interest Received
NZSA Branch Assistance
Programme & Award Fees
Sale of Publications

165

149

2,835

1,600

808

124

Workshop & application fees

1,080

543

Total Trading Income

5,101

2,569

5,101

2,569

352

-

-

315

Meeting Costs

907

705

Office Rental & Venue Hire

228

-

Gross Profit
Expenses
Branch Support
Contractors

Office Expenses

-

23

Payments to Mentors

450

-

Printing & Stationery

1,134

113

70

400

Promotion & Marketing

366

76

Selection Panel, Judges

400

-

Prizes and Awards

Subscriptions and Levies
Web Site Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

-

104

409

222

4,316

1,958

786

611

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Wellington
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Wellington.
NOTES

2017

2016

282

91

Trading Income
Donations Received
Interest Received

30

49

NZSA Branch Assistance

463

1,346

Sundry Income

242

245

-

465

1,016

2,196

1,016

2,196

-

1,561

Workshop & application fees
Total Trading Income

Gross Profit
Expenses
Meeting Costs
Prizes and Awards

104

120

Speakers & Presenters

287

60

Sponsorships

500

-

Total Expenses

891

1,741

125

455

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Wellington Writers
Walk
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Branch is Wellington - Writers Walk.
NOTES

2017

2016

Trading Income
Interest Received

31

49

Total Trading Income

31

49

31

49

General Expenses

83

-

Stationery

26

-

109

-

(78)

49

-

9,758

(78)

9,807

Gross Profit
Expenses

Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year
Prior Year Adjustment - Transfer from Grants Held - Writers Walk
Prior Year Adjustment - Transfer from Grants & Bequests Held

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

These financial statements have been prepared without conducting an audit or review and should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements
and the accompanying Compilation Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Consolidated
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
NOTES

2017

2016

Administration fee

3,045

5,300

Advertising

4,440

5,404

Trading Income

Donations Received

6,648

3,725

Grants Received

96,752

127,356

Interest Received

1,889

2,211

-

24,700

NWF sponsorship & support
NWF Ticket sales
NZ Author subscriptions
Programme & Award Fees
Sale of Publications
StartWrite Service Fees

-

30,399

157

1,258

16,411

7,173

1,978

889

1,117

1,377

140,960

143,271

Sundry Income

2,790

5,919

Workshop & Competitions Fees

4,606

2,963

Grant Received Auckland Council

3,390

-

Subs from Members

NZ Author, print copy surcharge
Total Trading Income

444

-

284,628

361,944

Expenses
280

289

Accountant

ACC Levy

3,427

7,019

Assessment Programme

7,540

9,597

Audit Fees

7,000

4,498

-

139

Bank Charges

1,236

915

Computer & IT Support

3,879

387

Bad Debts Expense

Contractors

30,695

37,400

Depreciation with Adjustments

5,537

6,783

Design & Branding

3,250

4,571

65

261

Honorariums

9,522

10,000

Insurance

1,852

1,736

Donations Made

Meeting Costs
National Writers Forum Event
Office Rental & Venue Hire
Office Expenses
Payments to Mentors
Pen Expenses

10,642

6,859

-

51,168

9,405

8,000

1,061

3,656

22,116

21,760

457

496

Postage & Distribution

5,422

7,358

Printing & Stationery

6,688

6,280

Prizes and Awards

6,229

5,900

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Profit or Loss - Consolidated
NOTES

Professional Development

2017

2016

-

1,000

2,293

2,853

Purchase of Publications

412

501

Recruitment

651

-

Promotion & Marketing

Selection Panel, Judges

6,547

4,583

Speakers & Presenters

12,215

11,892

Sponsorships

2,500

-

Start Write assessment programme

4,259

4,369

Subscriptions and Levies

1,746

1,264

Telephone, Power & Broadband

1,937

1,901

Travel & Accommodation

6,859

2,702

119,479

131,872

2,895

2,008

Wages & Salaries
Web Site Expenses
Entertainment-non deductible
Total Expenses

Net Profit (Loss) Before Adjustments

194

-

298,287

360,016

(13,659)

1,929

Taxation and Adjustments
Income Tax Expense
Income Tax Provision

157

-

-

353

Prior Year Adjustments
Prior Year Adjustment - GST on conversion Xero

(5,589)

-

-

(37,235)

Total Taxation and Adjustments

(5,433)

(36,882)

Net Profit (Loss) for the Year

(8,226)

38,810

Prior Year Adjustment - Transfer from Grants & Bequests Held

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Changes in Equity
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
2017

2016

104,920

66,110

Equity
Opening Balance
Increases (Decreases)
Profit (Loss) for the Period

(8,226)

38,810

Total Increases (Decreases)

(8,226)

38,810

96,694

104,920

Total Equity

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report
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Statement of Cash Flows
The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the Year ended 31 December 2017

2017

2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash was provided from:
Grants Received
NWF Sponsorship & Ticket Sales
Subs from Members
Other Income

97,142
140,960
48,643
286,745

127,356
55,099
143,271
26,643
352,369

(30,695)
(6,229)
(129,001)
(115,827)
(281,752)

(37,400)
(51,168)
(5,900)
(134,599)
(131,787)
(360,854)

4,992

(8,485)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Reduction (increase) in term deposit
Interest Income

(2,302)
(818)
1,718

(6,061)
4,916
2,262

Net Cash flows from Investing Activities

(1,403)

1,117

3,589

(7,368)

62,221
3,589

69,588
(7,368)

65,810

62,221

(2,640)
5,537
7,286
(1,718)
2,119

1,574
6,783
(7,981)
(2,262)
(6,597)

10,582

(8,485)

Cash was applied to:
Contractors
NWF Event
Prizes & Awards
Wages & Honorariums
Other expenses
Payments to suppliers & employees

Net Cash flows from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Total Net Cashflows

This is represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Reconciliation of Operating Cash Flows with Net Surplus for the year
Net surplus for the year before prior year adjustments
Non-cash items: Depreciation & Loss on sale
Decrease(Increase) in loans & trade and other receivables
Increase (Decrease) in interest income
Increase(Decrease) in loans & trade and other payables

Net cash flows from operating activities

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report
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Depreciation Schedule
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
NAME

COST

OPENING VALUE

PURCHASES

DISPOSALS

DEPRECIATION

CLOSING VALUE

Binding Machine

175

37

-

-

6

32

Chair

278

62

-

-

7

54

Chair

264

77

-

-

9

67

Cupboard

414

30

-

-

4

25

Cupboard

218

30

-

-

4

26

Desk

555

77

-

-

9

68

Furniture & Fixtures - Cost

Filing Cabinet
Total Furniture & Fixtures - Cost

354

68

-

-

8

60

2,258

380

-

-

48

333

2,579

564

-

-

282

282

454

-

454

-

95

359

2,104

6

-

-

3

2

Office Equipment - Cost
Asuspro Notebook
Computer monitors, Viewsonic 23.6"
(2)
Dell Inspiron * 2
Oki Printer
PC, HP Probook 450G4
Printer - HP 576DW

710

52

-

-

21

31

1,848

-

1,848

-

385

1,463

729

273

-

-

137

137

Series Custom PC

1,139

427

-

-

214

214

Website

8,800

4,034

-

-

2,017

2,017

Website - NWF

3,000

2,250

-

-

1,125

1,125

Website - Xero & Mailchimp
integration

3,061

2,423

-

-

1,212

1,212

Total Office Equipment - Cost

24,424

10,028

2,302

-

5,489

6,841

Total

26,682

10,408

2,302

-

5,537

7,174

NOTE: This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements and the Auditor's Report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
For the year ended 31 December 2017
1. Reporting Entity
New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc) is an incorporated society registered under the Incorporated Societies Act
1908.Section 23 of the Act requires the Association as an Incorporated Society to prepare Annual Financial Statements.

2. Statement of Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
These financial statements are of special purpose and have been prepared for taxation purposes on the principles contained in
the Income Tax Act 2007, for the entity's members, and for internal management purposes.
All transactions in the Profit & Loss report are disclosed using the accrual basis of accounting. The Performance Report is
prepared under the assumption that the entity will continue to operate in the foreseeable future.

Historical Cost
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain assets which have been revalued as
identified in specific accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars (NZ$) and all
values are rounded to the nearest NZ$, except when otherwise indicated.

Changes in Accounting Policies
The organisation has elected to apply Special Purpose reporting this year - last year the Society applied Public Benefit Entity
Simple Format Reporting - Accrual (Not-For-Profit) - PBE SFR (NFP). There are no accounting consequences resulting from this
change.

Income Tax
The entity is a Not for Profit Incorporated Society and subject to an exemption from income tax received from within its circle of
membership. The taxation disclosed is the expected liability after taking account of this exemption and the $1,000 rebate
allowable under current tax laws.
All grants received are earmarked for specific purposes, and expenses incurred match grants received.
Advertising income from publications and website is exceeded by expenses incurred to produce them.
All other income is generated within its circle of membership.
Only Interest and dividends are subject to income tax.

Goods and Services Tax
All amounts are stated exclusive of goods and services tax (GST) except for accounts payable and accounts receivable which are
stated inclusive of GST.

Disclosure of Internal Transactions
The policy of the society is to report all income and expenses of the national office and the branches in their individual report
within the Profit & Loss reports - this includes branch assistance (including grant distribution) paid to the branches by national
office, and that same assistance received by the branches. In the consolidated statement of financial performance these are
omitted, and the true income and expenses of the society as a whole are presented.

NOTE: These notes are to be read in conjunction with the Auditor's Report.
Annual Report

New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc)
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Accounts Receivable
Accounts Receivable are stated at their estimated realisable value. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectable are
written off in the period that they are identified.

Foreign Currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the New Zealand rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. At
balance date foreign monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate and variations arising from these
transactions are included in the statement of profit and loss.

Fixed Assets & Depreciation
Depreciation rates used are the maximum amount permitted by the Income Tax Act 2007.
The entity has the following asset classes with depreciation rates used:
Office Equipment

40-50% DV

Furniture & Fittings

12-15% DV
2017

2016

3. Property, Plant and Equipment
Office Equipment
Office Equipment
Office Equipment - Cost

24,424

22,122

Total Office Equipment

24,424

22,122

Accumulated depreciation - Office Equipment
Office Equipment Accum Dep

(17,583)

(12,094)

Total Accumulated depreciation - Office Equipment

(17,583)

(12,094)

6,841

10,028

Total Office Equipment
Furniture and Fittings
Furniture and fittings owned
Furniture & Fixtures - Cost

2,258

2,258

Total Furniture and fittings owned

2,258

2,258

Accumulated depreciation - furniture and fittings owned
Furniture & Fixtures Accum Dep

(1,925)

(1,878)

Total Accumulated depreciation - furniture and fittings owned

(1,925)

(1,878)

333

380

7,174

10,408

2017

2016

Total Furniture and Fittings
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

4. Income Tax Expense
Contributions to Taxable Profit
Interest Received

1,889

2,211

Total Contributions to Taxable Profit

1,889

2,211

328

(51)

Deductions from Taxable Profit
Net Interest accrual

NOTE: These notes are to be read in conjunction with the Auditor's Report.
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Exemption Non Profit Body
Total Deductions from Taxable Profit

1,000
1,328

1,000
949

Taxable Profit (Loss)

561

1,262

Tax Payable at 28%

157

353

Deductions from Tax Payable
Resident Withholding Tax & Adjustment

4

217

Income Tax Paid (Refunded)

-

(699)

Total Deductions from Tax Payable

4

(482)

Last Year Tax Balance
Last year Tax Balance

(136)

699

Total Last Year Tax Balance

(136)

699

289

136

2017

2016

167

2,390

Income Tax Payable (Refund Due)

5. Bank Accounts of the Society
NAT OFF - LIS INTRST - 385-097
NZSA Pen - Cred - 8085

(182)

(446)

NZSA - Auckland Branch - 97-50

5,098

6,784

NZSA - Auckland Branch - 97-00

958

634

NAT OFF - Savings ac - 385-002

25,257

17,203

NZSA - PAYPAL

1,348

2,034

NZSA - Northland- 640-00

1,388

1,865

NZSA-Top of the South -693-00

2,908

1,811

NZSA - Canterbury - 973-00

2,943

4,128

NZSA - Otago - 252-00

1,282

1,304

NZSA-Central Districts-062-00

5,694

5,652

NZSA - Wellington SAV- 802-001

6,073

6,185

NZSA - Wellington - 802-00

2,759

2,791

464

507

9,558

9,235

65,714

62,076

2017

2016

NZSA-Top of the South -693-15

4,134

4,113

NZSA -Wgtn - TD - 6913-005

3,711

3,693

NZSA - Hamilton - ANZ 119-00
NAT OFF - Chq acc -385-00
Total Bank Accounts of the Society

The Bank account of each branch represents the independent financial position of that branch

6. Investments

NZSA -Wgtn - TD - 6913-004

4,788

4,764

NAT OFF - COMB TD RES. 030-094

17,180

16,677

NAT OFF - LIS BEQST - 030-025

10,000

10,000

NAT OFF - LIS BEQST - 030-014

17,700

17,447

Total Investments

57,512

56,694

All investments mature in the year ended 31 December 2018, consequently are classified as current investments.

NOTE: These notes are to be read in conjunction with the Auditor's Report.
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7. Prior Period Adjustment
2017 year
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Society converted accounting systems from MYOB to Xero. During the process a
number of GST anomalies occurred which left an unexplained GST balance in the balance sheet. The anomalies have been
examined, and found not to be GST - this adjustment corrects the anomalies.
2016 year
As the Society elected to apply Public Benefit Entity Simple Format Reporting, the standard required a prior period
adjustment to move the Lilian Ida Bequest of $27,477 and Writer’s Walk Grants of $9,758 out of Non-Current Liabilities recorded
the previous year, and show them in income as a prior period adjustment. This is because the Society has no actual liability to
repay these funds, and so based on the Reporting standards it should have shown them as income. The society elected to show
these as Designated Reserves - they can be used by the Society for general purposes, but they are earmarked for these specific
purposes. The associated investments have been reclassified as current investments, as the maturity date of the investment is
within one year.

2017

2016

8. Designated Reserves
Designated Reserves

37,235

37,235

Total Designated Reserves

37,235

37,235

Designated Reserves are made up of Lilian Ida Smith Bequest of $27,477 and Writer's Walk Grants of $9,758

9. Capital Commitments
At balance date there were no material Capital Commitments.

10. Contingent Liabilities
At balance date there were no material Contingent Liabilities .

NOTE: These notes are to be read in conjunction with the Auditor's Report.
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BRANCH REPORTS

Otago‐Southland Branch AGM
Over the last Otago/Southland Branch has run two series of meeting: branch business meetings on
the third Monday of every second month and salons on the second Monday of each month.
Attendance at the former has been meagre to moderate – between five and ten members in
addition to branch officers. In contrast, attendance at salons has been strong since our move to
Brew Café in Musselburgh, with upwards of twenty‐five at a number of meetings. Highlights have
been readings by Sue Wootton, Laurence Fearnley, David Howard, Mere Whaanga, Craig Cliff,
Elspeth Sandys, Fiona Farrell and visiting Scottish novelist Iain Maloney. The salons were also
notable for the quality of contributions from lesser known writers.
The salons have gone on throughout the winter. It seems that from being a social sideline to branch
activity, the salons have now become central to it. The branch has now decided to combine both
types of meeting and to hold a brief meeting to deal with any business before each monthly salon.
Once again we held a successful National Poetry Day event and also, for the first time, an event for
National Flash Fiction Day, which included readings by the local writers who had been placed highest
in the various competitions and a prize for the best local entry.
Talks with Otago University about a fiction prize have continued but we have not yet reached
commitments on the matter.
We have also continued to explore the possibility of a short story competition.
Late last year, in conjunction with the Central Library we organised a public panel discussion,
entitled Birth of a Novel at which Fiona Farrell, Sue Wootton, Emma Neale and Paddy Richardson all
talked about how they came to write their most recent work. The event was a great success and we
plan more such in 2018.
In late March 2018 we also ran a Literary Quiz Night, which was thoroughly enjoyed by all who
attended and raised us in excess of $800.
Over the summer break, I put some thought into my own commitments for the coming year and
decided it was time for me to step down as chair. Damien and Karen also stepped down.
We held our AGM on 7th April. The new branch officers are:
 Donna Young (Chair)
 Jane Woodham (Secretary)
 Laura Lewis (Treasurer)
I have enjoyed my two years as chair. There have been challenges and achievements and I believe
the branch has, for the most part, continued to serve the interests of its members. My thanks to
everyone who has contributed and special thanks to Diane Brown (for Poetry Day), Iona Winter (for
our Flash Fiction event), to Damien Gibson (Secretary) and Karen Trebilcock (Treasurer), to the salon
team of Gay Buckingham, Paddy Richardson, Jane Woodham, Donna Young and friends, to Jane and
Donna again and to Laura Lewis for their contributions to the Quiz Night and also to Vanda Symon
for her assured and highly capable performance as MC.
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All the best to everyone, in life and in writing, for the coming year and beyond.
Chris Else 23/4/18

Christchurch Branch AGM
Kia ora huihui tatou. Nau mai haere mai to everyone here today, and to all those who have joined
with us us at our regular meetings, workshops, awards and events throughout the year. Warm
greetings and many thanks!
Monthly general meetings are running every third Tuesday of the month, from 12‐1pm, followed by
the committee meeting. The hope is to see this grow by co‐locating with...
Word by Word meet every Tuesday morning at the South Library. Writers work alongside one
another and exchange work for constructive critique. This group grew and flourished last year,
drawing in regulars from other active Christchurch writing communities. A warm community of
diverse writers.
Book Buzz is held bi‐monthly at The Exchange, a collaborative arts hub. This may move away from
being strictly book launches and offer a more ‘in conversation with...’ local authors type of event.
The quality of discourse has been just fantastic and XCHC have welcomed us back for another year.
In 2017 we ran two weekend series of writing workshops. The first, in May, was ticketed (with some
help from WORD Christchurch) and attached to the National Society of Authors AGM. With ticket
sales, we broke even overall, and flew in several guest speakers including Selina Tusitala Marsh. The
October workshop series was free to all attendees, due to Creative NZ funding, and the WEA venue
was ideal for this type of event. At both of these workshop weekends we hosted writers active in
other NZSA branches and this has been a great way to foster relationships between the branches.
Children's Lit Hub ran monthly throughout the year at the South Library, with a diverse range of
visiting writers and illustrators.
The NZ Heritage Book Awards and Writing Competitions gained further credibility and recognition
this year, thanks in part to last year’s winner, Fiona Kidman, becoming the judge for her category.
The novel prize went to Fiona Farrell, who will be judging in 2018 year – a very encouraging trend!
The Non Fiction judge was Jim McAloon, and he awarded the prize to Ben Schrader for his history of
NZ cities. The Poetry judge, Gail Ingram, awarded the prize to ‘Reading the Sky’ by Janet Wainscott.
And Sally Blundell awarded Diana Duckworth the short prose prize for ‘Pioneer Woman’.
The Prizegiving ceremony was considerably better attended than previous years. Three of our four
winners were present, as were three of our four judges. It has been an honour to be part of the early
years of this competition and I hope it continues to grow.
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Unfortunately, there are simply not enough heritage books published in NZ in any given year for us
to cover the cost of two $1000 prizes, even if every single possible book entered. We have every
year received the maximum possible funding from Christchurch City Council Heritage week (or very
close to maximum), but this is not allowed to go to prize money. I have recommended alternating
years between fiction and non‐fiction, and opening up the eligible publishing period to two years. As
it is, the poetry and prose competitions more than pay for themselves, and do something toward
subsidizing the book prizes. We received entries from a much wider geographical area due to paid
Facebook advertising and this was by far the most cost‐effective marketing strategy. If we can
drastically increase the number of poetry and short‐prose entries, it is possible the competition may
eventually pay for itself.
I have also suggested handing off the competition to a larger organisation, one more capable of
growing it, but others on the committee are willing to take it on and prefer to continue as is. I wish
them the best of luck with it.
I have thoroughly enjoyed my two years chairing this committee and I have learned so much in my
role. So many wonderful writers have crossed my path and I have been inspired, challenged, and
encouraged at every turn.
Thank you to all the committee members, and to many others who have been involved in one way
or another, for your hard work, for taking risks and answering emails, for sharing your wisdom and
energy. No reira tena koutou, tena koutou, tena ra tatou katoa,
Amy Paulussen

Top of the South Branch AGM
Committee personnel
We’ve had some changes of branch committee personnel, with David Briggs and Jude Watson
stepping down due to pressure of other commitments. We are delighted to welcome Lorna Croft as
a new committee member, especially as she has taken on the role of co‐ordinating the Page &
Blackmore Short Story Competition. Phil Morrell has resigned the treasurer’s position, due to ill‐
health. We are searching for a new treasurer.
Page & Blackmore Short Story competition
Organised by the Top of the South branch, this year’s competition was judged by novelist Catherine
Chidgey. We received entries from all over New Zealand and the prize‐winners are about to be
announced at this AGM – very soon, in fact!
Top of the South delegate
It was a pleasure to meet Ray Berard, our new delegate to NZSA national council for both Top of the
South and Canterbury branches. He travelled especially to meet the branch committee and
members, giving a very interesting talk about his crime writing at Mapua in early December.
Events
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Mapua Literary Festival
The branch organised several significant events during the year. For the first time, we had a
promotional stand at the Mapua Literary Festival in September, with a display of books by members
as well as information about NZSA. Special thanks to David Briggs for organising this.
Launch of Horizons 3
September also saw the launch of the anthology Horizons 3, containing the winning and shortlisted
stories from the ToS‐organised 2017 and 2016 Page & Blackmore competitions. The anthology also
contains the poems which were selected to be displayed in the windows of the Nelson Provincial
Museum and Page & Blackmore Booksellers in 2015 and 2016.
Top of the South annual writers’ retreat
The Writers’ Retreat held at Rai Valley in October was voted by participants as a great success, with
Bridget Auchmuty an inspirational mentor/tutor. Thanks again to David Briggs for his wonderful
organisational skills.
Courage Day
Over thirty people attended the Courage Day (Day of the Imprisoned Writer) event at Nelson’s
Volume Bookshop on 15 November, which was organised by Gaelynne Pound. Dana Wensley, who is
PEN (NZ)’s Representative for Freedom of Speech, gave a talk on the writers that PEN International
was focusing on in 2017. This was followed by readings of poems by poets who have been or still are
imprisoned.
Top Writers Radio Show
Gaelynne Pound and Dana Wensley continued to co‐operate with producing the Top Writers Radio
Show on Fresh FM. The show expanded to twelve programmes, each one featuring an interview by
Gaelynne with a local writer, plus a PEN item from Dana.
The podcasts are available at: http://www.topwriters.co.nz/radio‐show.html and on the NZSA
national website: https://authors.org.nz/freedom‐of‐expression/pen‐podcasts/
ToS writers publish books
An impressive number of our members have had books published in the last year. In alphabetical
order they are: Sally Astridge, Garrick Batten, David Briggs, Deborah Brookes, Alan Carter, Marion
Day, John Ewan, Carolyn Hawes, Sheila Kennard, Belinda Mellor, Phil Morrell, Brin Murray, Panni
Palásti, Sue Perkins, Wendy Scott, Laura Solomon, and Geoffrey (Mike) Waring.
ToS plays staged
The theatre also featured this year with Paul Maunder’s play Helen and the Ferals touring the West
Coast and Tasman in July‐September, and an adaptation of Christine Leunen’s novel Caging Skies
staged at Wellington in August‐September. Laura Solomon’s play Brain Graft had a reading at
Nelson’s Ghost Light Theatre recently.
Blackball Readers & Writers Festival
A small group from ToS plan to attend the inaugural Blackball Readers & Writers Festival in October.
Branch brochure reprinted
200 copies of the branch’s brochure were reprinted, thanks to The Copy Press’s continuing
generosity.
Weekly newsletter and Writers at Lunchtime
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Thanks to founding member Chrissie Ward for her diligence in continuing to compile a regular
weekly email newsletter with information and news about upcoming events. It arrives promptly
every Friday morning about 11 am! (She says it’s not that punctual, but it is!)
Chrissie also organises the popular Writers at Lunchtime event that we enjoy every month. It’s a
chance to hear a speaker—a writer telling her or his story—and to meet other people in the writing
life.
Thanks to everyone who helps keep the branch healthy
I have always found Top of the South to be a wonderfully friendly and inclusive branch of NZSA.
Thanks to those who support the branch and keep it relevant and alive in many different ways.
Thank you to those who give up their time to be on the committee: Jean Gorman, Dana Wensley,
Lorna Croft and Chrissie Ward. There are many reasons to be grateful for our branch and our parent
organisation, but the main thing is the people, the people, the people.
Liz Mahoney

Wellington Branch AGM
Is your branch membership going up or down? Steady at around 250 members.
Please comment on why you think this may be happening.
We have not been actively recruiting new members, but with the increased profile and accessibility
of our new venue (as of February 2018), and a focus on social media and external communications,
we hope to start attracting new members.
What Branch activities have there been since your last report? Report on guest speakers,
workshops, competitions, meetings and any burning issues members discussed.
In October last year, we were privileged to have Ockham award winner and Randell Cottage
resident, Stephen Daisley, in conversation with our own Tracy Farr. This resulted in Tracy and
Catherine Robertson being part of a Randell Cottage event with Stephen at the National Library.
In November, we sponsored a LitCrawl session, ‘I’m Making a Sign’ and tied this into our Courage
Day commemoration. Catherine Robertson spoke about PEN, Courage Day and NZSA Wellington at
the start of the session and we distributed NZSA leaflets. We will have that opportunity again this
year, and funds permitting, will take it.
In December, we hosted a well attended Christmas party at Catherine Robertson’s home, and raised
money at our popular book auction.
In February, we held our first meeting at our new venue, Vic Books Pipitea, and a panel of authors
from the Committee told their story of how they got published. We received excellent feedback
from members about this.
Office holders
April was our branch AGM, and at our Election of Officers, Catherine Robertson stood down as Chair
and Jan Pryor was appointed to the role. Geoff Palmer was re‐appointed as Treasurer, Viv Ball as
Secretary, Tracy Farr as Communications Officer and Pippa Werry as Deputy Chair. Long serving
Committee members Maggie Rainey‐Smith and Kate Mahony resigned, and we welcomed new
Committee members, Trish Gray and Suzanne Main, who will start in June. Pippa Werry is also happy
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to stand for anoher two‐year term as Regional Delegate. We’re also delighted to announce that
Committee member, Constance Talbot, has taken the role of Chair of Wellington Writers Walk, and
we expressed our thanks to outgoing Chair, Rosemary Wildblood.
How does the branch communicate with its members?
We use email for branch notices and events that involve branch members, eg book launches. We will
also send notices of special offers for members if we believe they’re appropriate.
We use Facebook and Twitter to communicate, and to highlight member successes or news.
Please list address of any website, facebook page, facebook group etc that your Branch manages:
Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/wellington.writers.9/
Twitter: @NZSAuthorsWgtn
What percentage of your membership is attending branch meetings in the last few months?
Our usual turnout is around 30 members, so this is just over 10% of total membership.
Please name all the hubs in your branch area, how often they meet and approximate size.
We have no hubs.
Will your Branch make any plans for Book Week 2017? Tentative dates are Oct 23‐29 October but
to be confirmed by National Council. Book Shop Day is 27 Oct.
I’m sure the new Committee will put this on the agenda.
Will your Branch make any plans for Courage Day, November 15, which is the International Day of
the Imprisoned Writer?
Last year, we sponsored a suitable LitCrawl event and will consider doing the same this year.
Has the Branch engaged with industry sector groups in your area during the reporting period eg
libraries, bookshops, organisers of writers’ festivals etc?
Yes, Catherine Robertson met with Mark Cubey in November 2017 to discuss the 2018 Wellington
Writers Week. Catherine is the representative on the Book Awards Trust and as such has engaged
across the industry. and participates in reviews and commentary on national radio afternoon. The
branch engaged with Lit Crawl as per above.
Has the Branch engaged with any local businesses to promote writers during the reporting period?
We have a relationship now with Vic Books, and they are keen to hold book launches and help
promote authors.
This is an open comment field for anything you would like to report about your Branch.
It is in good heart, with an enthusiastic Committee and members.
Catherine Robertson

Central Districts Branch AGM

The last branch meeting we held in Fielding at the Manawatu Festival. We suggested via Facebook
that we have ‘area’ or ‘hub’ Christmas wind‐ups on the same day. This didn’t pan out exactly, but
in Hawkes Bay we met for a collegial lunch at Birdwood Gallery on 2nd Dec.
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We are scheduled to meet for our AGM on 15th April in Hawkes Bay, venue to be confirmed. Our
new secretary/treasurer is stepping down at the AGM.
Our National Council representative, Anna MacKenzie, has agreed to continue for one more year
at the request of national council, for continuity of governance, and the branch supports this.
Anna is meeting‐savvy, politically astute and has a wealth of historical knowledge about NZSA. She
has been generous with her time on National Council and has made a substantial contribution
nationally and locally.
Due to the geography of Central Districts from Napier to Whanganui and New Plymouth, events are
organised around the region and various members are active in different centres.
Mary‐anne Scott

HAMILTON BRANCH REPORT: Waikato Writers and Associated Artists.
There has been a hive of activity in recent months at the branch. One of the highlights was Hamilton
Book Month, organized by Gail Pittaway and Catherine Wallace. All events, (there were over a
dozen) were well attended, ranging from women writers like Catherine Chidgey reading and talking
about their works to workshops on opinion writing conducted by Alex Casey and another by David
Hill on writing for young adults. In between, one of the most popular events involved local authors
who were given 5 minutes each to speak about their book. About 20 authors signed up and the
venue was packed out.
Writer in residence at Waikato University, poet, Bob Orr, along with fellow poets, Vaughan
Rapatahana and Stephanie Christie read their poetry and talked about poetry writing. Sessions on
online writing, song writing, travel writing and graphic illustration were also conducted. The branch
was fully involved in supporting and helping to MC these functions.
Branch meetings continue to be well attended with membership incrementally increasing. This may
be by word of mouth or our online presence (facebook page) which has been recently activated by
Nikki Crutchley. Her published crime novel, “Nothing Bad Happens Here”, has done very well both in
sales and reviews. However the people who do regularly attend are usually the same cohort of
people and represent only a portion of NZSA members from the region.
Stephen Stratford, professional manuscript editor, spoke to our group recently. He had been
employed by Vincent O’Sullivan to proof read his latest novel, “All This By Chance”, and Stratford
made some interesting comments about the process and tiny corrects made to details linked to the
Cambridge environs mentioned in the work.
Former mayor, Russ Rimmington, also spoke to our group about his latest memoir called, “Give A
Man A Spanner”. It was a moving story about triumph over adversity and making good. As a very
young boy, his mother simply walked out of the family one day without warning, leaving him and his
brother to grow up on their own, albeit with a hard working father.
One of the most engaging and popular activities the branch conducts from time to time is a writing
competition, where a theme is suggested, a 100 word limit imposed, written either in poetry or
prose form, which is then read out and judged by the group with a small prize awarded the winner.
This year the theme was ANZAC and the results have been put up on the Branch Facebook page.
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Other writing groups are springing up in and around the area. Hamilton Central meets at St Andrews
library. Chartwell meet in their library and Te Awamutu writers gather at Walton Street Café. These
groups often discuss and share their writing and practice writing exercises.
One of the vexing questions recently testing our group is the reluctance of members to offer up their
services for office, leaving it to the old faithful’s to carry the load. It has prompted us to put forward
a remit that suggests holders of office be compensated with free membership to recompense
members to offer their services. We have been gratefully supported in this by Jenny Nagle who
attended our April meeting and spoke about the good work NZSA is doing. Overall, the branch is in
good health with a greater range of activities planned for the future.
Peter Dornauf.

Auckland Branch AGM
Is your branch membership going up or down?
Whatever the figures it is evident there is a need for the branch to do more outreach to attract
potential members, particularly already established and successful writers who may be unaware of
how the NZSA may benefit them.
What Branch activities have there been since your last report?
We hold branch meetings (including supper) in the central city on the first Friday evening of each
month, except January. The entire Auckland membership is invited to attend via email. There is a
guest speaker at each meeting, with a variety of topics. We have found panel discussions to be
particularly popular, two 2018 examples being: “How to make money out of writing” and ‘”Writing
for the stage.” Time is allowed for authors to speak about their new books.
Each meeting includes a section on PEN matters, for which Julie Ryan takes responsibility; and a
short literary competition initiated and judged by branch stalwart and current President of Honour,
Bernard Brown. Each year, the branch holds an annual short story completion, judged by well‐known
author, Graeme Lay. Promotion of this year’s competition is currently under way. For several years,
with financial support from the branch, Anita Arlov has organised the monthly Inside. Out writers’
open mic event on the second Wednesday evening of the month at Café One2One in Ponsonby,
where authors have a chance to read excerpts from their new work in a supportive atmosphere and
listen to musical entertainment.
Late last year, Auckland branch successfully organised and hosted the National Poetry Conference.
Our major focus at present is the 2018 AGM. A small organising committee of Adrian Blackburn,
Weng Wai Chan and Libby Kirkby‐McLeod, have organised an impressive weekend of events.
Weng Wai also organised November 2017 workshops run by Anna Kayes and Thalia Henry on
"Drafting Your First Novel" which were over‐subscribed and will be run again this year.
The December meeting holds a memorabilia auction which is always successful at raising funds for
the branch coffers.
Our major focus at present is the 2018 AGM. A small organising committee of Adrian Blackburn,
Weng Wai Chan and Libby Kirkby‐McLeod, have organised an impressive weekend of events.
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Weng Wai also organised November 2017 workshops run by Anna Kayes and Thalia Henry on
"Drafting Your First Novel" which were over‐subscribed and will be run again this year.
The December meeting holds a memorabilia auction which is always successful at raising funds for
the branch coffers.
How does the branch communicate with its members?
By regular email and very recently its own Facebook page. Facebook is Auckland branch NZSA and
we have a new email address: aucklandbranch.nzsa@gmail.com
What percentage of your membership is attending branch meetings in the last few months?
After the usual slow start, interest seem to be picking up with attendances averaging around 30 to
40 from a total membership of over 500. This is unsatisfactory and the branch is actively considering
ways of attracting more members to come along. A South Auckland spinoff hub is active but does
not report to the branch on its activities and a number of writing groups have strong representation
from our members.
We are closely involved with the NZ Book Festival, to be held in Auckland later in the year for indie
writers. One of our members, Louise de Varga organises this, and authors attend from as far away as
the South Island. It has been running successfully for five years.
We have also advocated for the staff and funding cuts at Auckland Libraries (Denys Trussell) Fit for
Purpose review.
We have been in contact with Auckland City Council in an effort to have our writers (past and
current), promoted on public transport. Ian Free is leading this and has gained some interest.
Auckland branch is in good heart, with long‐term committee members Tom Lodge (Secretary);
Bernard Brown, Maria de Jong (communications), Adrian Blackburn, Julie Ryan (PEN), Anita Arlov
(catering), Sue Gee (treasurer) and others making valuable contributions with their time and efforts.
As mentioned previously, other members have joined committees and Weng Wai and Libby‐Kirkby‐
MacLeod in particular.
Brent Leslie

Northland Branch AGM
This has been a good year for networking, both with the public, our members and the local tertiary
institution. Special interest groups such as flash fiction and poetry continue at strength; critiquing
groups and workshops have been held for public and members. Another open critiquing group has
been established in Whangarei by Derin Attood.
Our meetings this year have been held in Hikurangi, Tikipunga, Kawakawa, Kerikeri (2)
Maungatapere, Ruakaka, Tapuhi, Kensington, and Whangarei. Membership has grown this year from
64 to 71. Branch activities have included:
 Online demonstrations of www.Writeupnorth.co.nz and the Facebook group Writers up
North by Mike Botur and how members can publish their stories on the web.
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Celebrating National Flash Fiction Day combined with NorthWrite 2017 concentrating on
Flash Fiction with the presentation of the Northland Trophy to Vivian Thonger. Vivian also
ran a Flash Fiction workshop for members and the public.
Supporting the First Kiss Award for the RWNZ an annual writing competition to honour our
longstanding member, Daphne de Jong.
Celebrating National Poetry Day with events in Kawakawa and Whangarei, organised by Piet
Nieuwland.
Supporting Courage Day by writing postcards to writers in prisons to show our awareness of
their plight and concern for their safe release, organised by Lesley Marshall.
Collecting second hand books for distribution at Ngawha prison library, organised by Julia
O’Brien.
Celebrating 21 years of the branch with a lunch.
Running an open workshop for beginner writers, with Lesley Marshall and Diana Menefy.
Organising a successful NorthWrite 2018 in March (Kathy Derrick i/c), in conjunction with
NorthTec student hui. Guest speakers were Kathryn Burnett, Whiti Hereaka, Janice Marriott,
Christine Dale & Jenny Nagle (OneTree House), Jenny Nagle (NZSA) & literary agent Vicki
Marsdon.
Supporting the NorthTec Writing Programme with the branch annual award – this year
presented to Patricia Fenton.


Jenny Nagle attended our September branch meeting in Ruakaka and gave an informal talk on the
main areas NO is working on for writers – particularly copyright. Volunteer hours and branch reports
have been sent as required.
I’d like to thank the committee members and other members who have worked hard to make the
events of the year so successful. Without your time, ideas and skills the branch would not be able to
invigorate the Northland writing community.
Diana Menefy
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Report on the
2017 New Zealand Book Awards for Children & Young Adults and
plans for 2018 Awards
On the evening of 14 August, the Renouf Foyer in the Michael Fowler Centre in Wellington was
abuzz with a capacity audience celebrating the very best of the past year’s children’s literature at the
2017 New Zealand Book Awards for Children & Young Adults. After a challenging period and a year
of consolidation, it was a welcome marking of the considerable milestones that have been achieved
in boosting this unique awards programme, despite the financial constraints it continues to operate
within. Worthy of special note were the following:
More than 150 books were entered in the 2017 awards, with good growth in the Te Reo
Māori and Junior Fiction categories in particular. As would be expected in the current
publishing environment, a growing number of self-published authors or boutique presses
are submitting books, but the overall standard of entries was excellent and judges
commented that the inclusion of these indies brought with them ‘new ways of storytelling as
well as fresh ideas and characters’.
The 2017 awards were judged by an experienced panel of children’s literature advocates,
including librarians, academics and authors. The main panel was expanded this year from
three to five judges to further strengthen the integrity of the judging process. They were
joined by a specialist panel of four excellent judges appointed to judge the entries for the Te
Kuru Pounamu Award for Te Reo Māori, with prize money in this category now matched to
the other main categories at $7,500, thanks to the ongoing support of Te Rōpū Whakahau
and LIANZA. All judges were paid for their services.
The 32 finalist books announced in early June represented a diverse range of authors, from
some of our most established and revered writers to first timers, several of whom had been
mentored by New Zealand’s cream, and included fresh Pasifika and Māori voices.
The marketing and point of sale campaign launched to support the finalist titles was a major
step up from previous years, with fresh and cohesive branding, a delightfully designed
booklet aimed directly at young readers and a very strong in-store poster illustrating the
excitement of reading and featuring our three 2017 ambassadors – young Asian and Pakeha
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schoolfriends Violet and Maya from Karori, and Manaia, who attends a Te Kura Kaupapa
Māori immersion school in Seatoun.
45,000 copies of the 16-page finalist booklet were distributed, including 30,000 copies
inserted into subscriber copies of NZ Listener. Point of sales packs that included 100
booklets, 2 A3 posters and 100 bookmarks were offered free of charge to bookstores
countrywide (with extra sets available at $30 plus gst each). 42 independents and 32 Paper
Plus stores ordered POS. These were distributed with the generous assistance of Upstart
Distribution.
More than 65 libraries ordered bookmarks and were given access to downloadable posters,
activity booklets and other useful promotional material. Tips and suggestions were also sent
out to libraries on ideas to promote the finalist books.
Strong bookseller engagement saw sales spike immediately following the announcement of
the 2017 finalists, with the average weekly sales during the shortlist period amongst stores
that contribute their data at three times the level they were across the finalists, before 6
June. Very strong sales were also recorded in the week leading up to, and immediately
following, the winners’ announcement. (see sales graph attached)
The functionality of our website was further enhanced this year, with numerous excellent
downloadable resources, including a specially commissioned activity booklet based on the
finalists. Also available via the website, and widely circulated, were a range of social media
visuals carrying the same strong campaign branding and featuring the category finalists as
well as the ultimate winners. These were very successfully utilised across industry networks,
further enhancing the profile of the awards.
Extremely strong support from the children’s media community, both online, across social
media and in print, was further enhanced by a very effective publicity campaign that
included extensive coverage across Māori TV, TV3, Radio NZ, Waatea News, NZ Herald,
Sunday Star-Times, NZ Listener and many others, with a cumulative audience reach of
4,018,267.
After very careful consideration and wide consultation, the Trust made the difficult decision
to discontinue the Children’s Choice aspect of the awards, which had attracted progressively
falling participation numbers over the past few years and had become increasing onerous to
administer in a suitably rigorous manner.
In the absence of Children’s Choice as one of the vehicles to engage schools and students in
the awards, particular attention was paid to maintaining regular contact with teachers and
librarians, sharing news about and resources for the awards with them. Facebook posts
specifically boosted to target these groups had strong engagement.
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The closely associated Hell Reading Challenge remains one of the most effective tools for
engagement with schools and libraries and the programme broke all records for
participation this year, with 248,500 pizza reading wheels ordered by over 680 school and
libraries across the country by the end of the Challenge on 3 December. (Far exceeding the
previous year’s record of just under 200,000 wheels.) A specially designed ‘How to’ manual
was introduced this year and the dedicated Hell Reading Challenge page on our website also
featured resources with strong association to the awards. A specific campaign and
competition was directed to all participating schools and libraries during the shortlist period,
heavily promoting the finalist books and encouraging New Zealand books as the ideal choice
for children completing their 7-slice reading wheels.
The new-format finalist author event programme established in 2016 was further developed
this year, with professionally run highly successful events, including workshops, readings and
a unique children’s press conference, held in Christchurch, Dunedin and, on the day of the
awards, in Wellington. A bookseller was involved in each of the centres. All available
authors or illustrators were utilised for these events, which collectively attracted
approximately 2,000 children and over 40 schools. The awards ceremony itself
was literally a sell-out, with ticket purchases far exceeding expectations, and
both industry insiders and members of the public clambering to get hold of the
last remaining places before our new venue reached full capacity at 255. The
move to the brightly ‘dressed’ Renouf and to cabaret-style seating encouraged a
much more convivial atmosphere, which was welcomed by authors, as was the
opportunity this year for all finalists to share the spotlight and the warm
applause on stage. While technical issues marred the sound quality, the inclusion
via video links of the award’s all-important ultimate market – the children
themselves, reading – was also appreciated.
Our dedicated ‘family’ of sponsors, funders and partners – Creative New Zealand, Hell Pizza,
Book Tokens NZ Ltd, Copyright Licensing NZ, LIANZA, Te Rōpū Whakahau, Wellington City
Council and Nielsen Book were all fittingly recognised and included in the ceremony, with
representatives invited to present the various category awards.
The New Zealand Book Awards Trust took the decision over the past year, despite cripplingly tight
budgets, not to actively seek much-needed additional sponsors for the children’s awards. We
preferred to first work towards ensuring that the restructured ‘package’ we could offer was as
robust, attractive and prestigious as it could be, to attract the ideal benefactor/s.
But we are proud of the extent of what has been achieved with those limited funds, and firmly
believe that we have not only maintained, but in fact also enhanced the integrity and profile of the
awards while successfully delivering for the authors, illustrators, translators and publishers whose
achievements they recognise and celebrate, in terms of both increased profile and sales.
The 2018 Awards process is now already underway, with the following already achieved, and
planned:
Instead of the previous year’s selection process, the Trust advertised for expressions of
interest amongst children’s literature specialists for the English language panel of judges,
and received an excellent field of applicants. The final panel was announced last week and
is: National Library schools facilitator Jeannie Skinner (convenor), author Maureen Crisp,
reviewer and librarian Crissi Blair, author and academic Darryn Joseph and high school
librarian Bridget Schaumann. In addition, Moana Munro (convenor), Hemi Rukuwai Jury,
Anahera Morehu and Jacqueline Joyce Snee have been appointed by Te Rōpū Whakahau to
judge the Te Kura Pounamu Award.

56

Submissions for the 2018 awards opened on 30 November and entries are already coming
in. Judges will read and deliberate over the Summer, and the 2018 shortlist will be
announced on 6 June 2018. The awards ceremony will be held in Wellington in the first half
of August 2018.
We will build on the strong POS campaign developed for the 2017 awards, and we’d also like
to improve the awards’ engagement with booksellers, to ensure what we provide will
maximise sales for them of the finalists and winners.
We will continue to develop our schools and libraries resources kit, and are investigating a
system of children’s school advisory panels to provide input to the judges on the 2018
finalists.
We have plans to further develop our author events programme, while still retaining our
objective of large-scale, professional organized readings, events and workshops in regional
centres. We are actively seeking a sponsor for this programme.
We’d like to enhance the professionalism and inclusiveness of the awards ceremony itself.
The New Zealand Book Council, who administered the 2016 and 2017 awards, elected not to renew
their contract with the Trust. The initial 2018 awards process has been overseen by Trust manager
Belinda Cooke, who will continue to drive the overall strategy, sponsor engagement and marketing
or the awards, but plans are in process to put an administrator in place to assist with the
administrative tasks involved.
EFFECT OF SHORTLIST AND WINNER ANNOUNCEMENTS ON BOOK SALES OF NZ BOOK
AWARDS FOR CHILDREN & YOUNG ADULTS 2017 FINALIST TITLES

(Figures and graph provided above courtesy of Nielsen Book. Data excludes Whitcoulls.)

Total Volume (all finalists)
NZCYA finalists weekly sales volume & value
700
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New Zealand Book Awards Trust: 7 August 2017-20 February 2018

The Book Awards Trust held its AGM on 5th December 2017, in Auckland, followed by a
Board meeting on the same day.
From the AGM:
Budget and financial reporting update
The Trust has appointed a new accountant.
The Performance Report for the year ended 30 September 2017, as prepared by
Blakat and reviewed by auditors RSM Hayes, was presented, as was the auditor’s
Management Letter. The Trust’s financial situation has improved and the auditor
made a positive report on the implementation of their suggestions.
The Ockham NZ Book Awards continue to underwrite the CYA awards, but will
require additional investment in 2018 for the 50th Anniversary plans.
CYA budgets continue to be tight and concerted effort is required to find
additional sponsorship.
A fee that better reflects the many hours and excellent work provided by the new
NPD administrator is required and additional seed funding for larger scale events is
also proposed.
Trustees:
We welcomed Rachel Eadie, replacing Stella Chrysostomou as the representative
of Booksellers. We thanked Stella for her spirited and dedicated service to the
Trust.
Nicola Legat and Karen Ferns having reached their three-year anniversary as
Trustees, have agreed to reappointment for a further three years, and the meeting
noted, with thanks for their considerable contribution, that this had been
unanimously accepted.
David Bowles and Paula Morris will reach their three-year anniversary as Trustees in
May 2018 and June 2018 respectively, and all present agreed to their
reappointment for a further three-year term.
Election of Officers:
Chair: Nicola Legat was nominated to remain as Chair for another year.
Treasurer: Melanee Winder was nominated and agreed to act as
Treasurer for the coming year.
Secretary: Catherine Robertson was nominated as Secretary for the next year.
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From the Board meeting:
Management:
Belinda Cooke has continued to be a marvellous manager and we our aim is to
find continued funding source for her salary.
Ockham NZ Book Awards:
Online entries in the 2018 Ockham NZ Book Awards opened in August
2017 and went smoothly. The awards’ longlist was announced on
November 28.
Planning will begin for the shortlist announcement, POS and marketing, and an
improved awards event within AWF which includes acknowledging that it is 50
years since the first Watties Book Awards were held in 1968.
Our priorities are to:
o Find a sub-sponsor for poetry, INF and BFB awards
o Plan a great 50th anniversary awards event with AWF
o Find a way to drive greater visibility and books sales in
partnership with Booksellers
o Improve social media activity
The Trust’s relationship with its new sponsor for the General Non
Fiction Prize —the Royal Society Te Apārangi, which has signed on for three years,
is going well and they have taken up our suggestion of a discount offer to members
on the longlisted book (organised in partnership with Vic Books)
NZ Book Awards for Children & Young Adults:
See attached report on the 2017 event.
Entries are now open for the 2018 NZBACYA, and the online entry process is
tracking well. Nine high quality judges are on board.
The big challenge is around the Author Events. Given that Storylines now has
funds to tour authors, and the Book Council is aiming to expand Writers in
Schools, our events need a point of difference. We also want more
children/schools to attend.
It is likely that Pirate and Queen will again be sub-contracted to run the author
events, and award ceremony.
Phantom Billstickers National Poetry Day:
The 2017 20/20 promotion went extremely well and was ably managed by Harley
Hern, who has been offered the contract for 2018.
NPD sub-committee will meet Phantom in February – plenty to work on: branding
is fantastic, but poster design needs re-jigging so that
people can use the templates.
NPD will be on 4th Friday of month: 24 August 2018. The next
meeting date is to be confirmed.
Catherine Robertson
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NZSA Appointed Directors’ Report
Thank you for asking us to prepare an update about CLNZ. Copyright is an important
issue for authors. Our role on the CLNZ board sees us continually striving to maintain
existing licence revenue streams, identify new ones and to do what is best to promote,
protect, and enforce copyright in the changing environment in which authors and
publishers live and work.

Company Image
In 2017 CLNZ undertook a brand refinement project and rolled out a new ‘authorcentric’ communication style. The slogan “Let’s Do the Right Thing” was adopted to
encourage users of content to purchase licenses and become aware the impact
unauthorised copying has on authors. We encourage NZSA members to explore our new
look website at https://www.copyright.co.nz/

Board News
In November 2017 we said goodbye to Vanda Symon who contributed so much to CLNZ
over the previous 6 years. As she vacated the position of Chair, Pat Walsh, an
independent director, was appointed. Vanda’s position as one of the two director’s
1|Page
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appointed by NZSA was filled by Katherine Gordon who attended her first meeting of
the CLNZ Board in March 2018. Katherine, who lives near Motueka in the South Island,
is a former National Council Director and Second Vice-Chair of the Writers’ Union of
Canada and a former Director of Access Copyright in Canada. She continues to Chair the
Writers’ Union’s Grievance Committee. You can find out more about her professional
background at https://www.linkedin.com/in/katherine-gordon-36633472.
Current CLNZ Board:

Andrew McKenzie (Independent)
Dana Wensley (NZSA)
Graeme Cosslett (PANZ)
Pat Walsh (Independent) CHAIR
Sam Elworthy (PANZ)
Katherine Gordon (NZSA)

Audit and Risk
CLNZ is in good financial health. Directors meet regularly with external auditors to
discuss the audit and risk reports and identify potential challenges. Directors receive
reports on risk analysis, with risk calculated using a register that measures across
consequence, significance, and probability. The Board reviews risk at each meeting, and
in March a new line of risk enquiry was added to measure CLNZ for compliance with
Legislative requirements.

Copyright Review
A review of copyright legislation in NZ is underway. This is progressing slowly at a
central government level. It is important to remind authors to get involved in the review
as much as possible to have their voices heard. We cannot emphasise this enough. In
Canada, the collective licensing income of authors has fallen to just twenty percent of
what it was five years ago, following Copyright law reform in that country. We cannot
allow New Zealand to follow suit. Please make sure you take every opportunity to let the
government know your personal story: how you would be affected if Copyright law is
changed in a way that gives the users of your works an excuse not to pay for that use.
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In the summer issue of New Zealand Author, CLNZ director Dana Wensley undertook a
‘Question and Answer’ interview with Paula Browning, (CEO of CLNZ). That article
provided a clear summary of what the review means for authors, and how we can be
involved in shaping the way copyright legislation will look in the future. Born-digital
content is not currently licensed by CLNZ. CLNZ is building a significant data set through
WISE. Maximizing the use of that data and growing the data set is important for future
business offerings.

Strategic Plan
There has been excellent progress on the strategic plan for CLNZ and the challenge for the
company now is to sustain the progress while identifying and implementing new strategies
and projects. Promoting licensing continues to be a significant focus for CLNZ. Our
relationships with our stakeholders (whose licensing fees are the backbone of our
financial success) remain crucial. The University Licensing Scheme is due for renewal at
the end of 2018.

Cultural Fund
Investments into the various cultural fund programmes for 2018 are as follows:
Writers’ Award $25000
NZSA / CLNZ Research Grants 4 x $5000
CLNZ Tertiary Scholarships for Creative Writing 5 x $3500
CLNZ / PANZ Training Fund $20000
CLNZ Contestable Fund $75000

Regards,

Dana Wensley Ph.D.

Katherine Gordon LLB (Hons)
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LAC COMMITTEE MEETING REPORT
Meeting held: Thursday 28 September 2017
NZSA LAC Rep: Wendy Megget
Relevant Points:
1. There was considerable discussion regarding keeping the NorthTec course relevant
and applicable to industry needs. The meeting was well attended by industry
representatives and the discussion tended towards the changes in media
communications and how the internet had changed the urgency and accuracy of
journalism.
2. The discussion regarding taking the Applied Writing Course to the level of Bachelor’s
degree continued and the idea was supported unanimously by the meeting
attendees. Hayley Hebden (Student Rep) expressed particular support for this
initiative on behalf of herself and other students. NZQA is supportive of the move,
which will make it NZ’s first fully online writing degree. Care is to be taken in
ascertaining competitors and ensuring that the degree retains a point of difference
that will make it attractive to students.
3. Efforts to tap into international students through a Korean student have not yet
come to fruition. Suggestions were sought for bringing international students to the
course, of which NZ expatriates in Australia was one suggestion.
4. Writing in Te Reo is encouraged in the Applied Writing course but has to date not
been taken up by any students. Ideas to promote this were:


It was suggested that use of Te Reo may have been impeded by the cultural
protocol requiring approval from an elder, and tutors understanding of this could
facilitate more students considering writing in Te Reo.



Students may not be aware that there is a strong market for stories in Te Reo for
local radio stations, which could provide an excellent outlet for their stories.



Offering scholarships for students who excel in writing and Te Reo, to encourage
them to do the Applied Writing course in Te Reo.

5. A 3 day event in March 2018 is being organised to coincide with NorthTec
Graduation. The intention is to bring students and industry together. Days One and
Two will provide an opportunity for students to meet with tutors and other students,
and a panel discussion made up of industry representatives to assist students with
career advice. Day 3 will be attendance at the Northwrite Conference.
6. The Next LAC Meeting is scheduled for Semester One 2018.
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Dana Wensley Ph.D.
9 Langdale Dr  Richmond, 7020  Phone: 0210739658  PEN@nzauthors.org.nz

PEN Report: NZSA AGM 2018
Thank you for asking me to prepare a report of my activities for the last year. I was appointed as the
PEN spokesperson for New Zealand in January 2015. This is voluntary role and one that I was very
excited to take on. I have gradually shaped the role over time. There is ongoing interest in Freedom of
Speech. Each year is different from the last as new challenges spring from changes in political and
social attitudes and emerging technologies.
About Me:
You can find out more about me on my website at: https://www.danawensley.com/

Communication with Members:
I regularly communicate with members through the NZSA e-news (literary bulletin) which carries a
summary of some PEN issues. I write a regular column in the New Zealand Author. Subjects in the
last year include:






‘The True Meaning of Freedom of Speech’; New Zealand Author, Issue 309, Winter
2017
‘PEN in New Zealand: The Backbone of Literary History’; New Zealand Author, Issue
310, Spring 2017
‘Q & A with Paula Browning (CEO of Copyright Licensing NZ)’; New Zealand Author,
Issue 311, Summer 2017/ 18
‘Courage Day- Six Authors Remembered’; New Zealand Author, Issue 311, Summer
2017/ 18
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‘Poetry, Politics and Prison: The Power of PEN’; New Zealand Author, Issue 312,
Autumn 2018

Representation / Advocacy of Members:
I field specific requests from members and head office throughout the year. Some go no further than
discussions and support. Others are a springboard for columns and talks that I give throughout the
year.
Promotion
My writing has been helpful to raise the profile of PEN and the importance of Freedom of Speech
issues. The column I wrote on ‘The True Meaning of Freedom of Speech’ was in response to the debate
following the closing down of the European Students Association at Auckland University last year. This
article- I have been told- was taken by one writer on his trip overseas as he found it helpful to centre
his thinking around Freedom of Speech.
The ‘Q and A with Paula Browning’ in the Summer issue of The Author was a chance to highlight the
connection between copyright and Freedom of Speech, the history of the two which is intricately
linked.
This exposure that PEN gives is not confined to New Zealand. In April this year I was contacted by the
Associate Editor, BBC Culture, who had read an opinion piece I wrote in the NZ Herald a few years
back about the controversy surrounding the temporary ban of the NZ teen novel, Into the River. She
requested my input into a project BBC World are running called “Stories That Changed the World”.
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NZSA Website:
I have written updated information for the new NZSA website on PEN. The material I updated included
information on Courage Day, the Empty Chair Campaign, and information on Works by Imprisoned
Writers. The podcasts that I have done for the Top Writers show which airs on Fresh FM have also
been placed there. Each podcast highlights one author or issue a time. They can be heard at:
https://authors.org.nz/freedom-of-expression/pen-podcasts/

Courage Day:
Courage Day in New Zealand is the name we use for the date recognised around the world as the Day
of the Imprisoned Writer. It is celebrated on 15th November. Last year I continued to supply
information to branches for Courage Day, sourcing English language publications that could be used
at meetings around New Zealand. I gave a talk to the NZSA Top of the South branch on freedom of
speech, and last year worked with local writer Gaelynne Pound to hold an event with young poets at
local bookstore Volume.
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Presentations:
I have made presentations to Top of the South Branch NZSA. In November last year I researched and
presented a talk on Media Literacy in Schools.

WRITERS AT LUNCHTIME

The next Writers at Lunchtime meeting takes place on
Wednesday 1 November, 11.30 am – 1.30 pm. The guest speaker at 12.30 pm
is Dana Wensley, who is the PEN (NZ) spokesperson for freedom of
expression.
Dana will be talking about the need for media literacy in schools and the
need to support new initiatives like ‘The Conversation’, which is a cooperation between universities and journalists to get reliable information out
there and combat fake news. Read more about The Conversation here:
https://theconversation.com/au/topics/new-zealand-205
Writers at Lunchtime takes place at The Prince Albert, 113 Nile Street,
Nelson (car parking is accessed from Tasman Street). Come any time from
11.30 am, but make sure you are there at 12.30 pm for Dana’s talk. Everyone
is welcome. Gold coin donation appreciated. For more information, contact
Chrissie on 03-546 9818.
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Wider Impact: Radio Show
An exciting development that is continuing this year is the support of the Top of the South Branch of
the NZSA for the short PEN podcast I present at the beginning of each radio show. This podcast
highlights an author or an issue each show, and will be a useful resource which I hope to eventually
link up to images and articles about the authors discussed.

Expenses:
At present I use my own personal computer, phone, printer and paper and have made no claims for
expenses. Pamphlets on PEN are supplied by head office. The past year I have received payment for
articles in The Author which is a great step forward.

Regards,

Dana Wensley
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PEN Report for Northland AGM 24 March 2018
This report covers January to December 2017.
During the past year we have written letters in response to a total of 36 RAN cases, from 25
countries. The new editor for The Author gave me the opportunity to write something about PEN to
appeal for more letter‐writers and I’ve already had two new letter‐writers in response to that, so I’m
very grateful for this.
We were involved in an appeal by Canadian PEN to write postcards to a prisoner that he could
receive on his birthday, and several NZers responded to this, and I know the postcards reached him
and were a welcome bright spot in a dark life.
Most NZSA committee meetings around the country feature empty chairs for prisoners of
conscience, and photos of some of these were forwarded to the UK and to the prisoner. Once again
I’m very grateful to my letter‐writers, and to the committee members who organise these empty
chairs.
The following countries are the ones we wrote to this year, and sometimes we also wrote to the
prisoner or their family. I think this might be the first year Mexico doesn’t appear, but I know from
the news that doesn’t mean things are better over there.



























Algeria
Australia
Azerbaijan– two appeals
Bahrain
China
Egypt – three appeals
Equatorial Guinea
Georgia
Honduras – two appeals
Iran
Israel – two appeals
Kyrgyzstan
Poland

Russia – two appeals
Saudi Arabia
Syria
Thailand
Tibet China
Turkey – five appeals
Uganda
Ukraine
United Arab Emirates
Uzbekistan
Vietnam – two appeals
Yemen

For Courage Day we all wrote letters to prisoners around the world at our meeting, as did several
other NZSA branches. Thank you for this ‐ both the organisers and the writers. I do know it can
make a big difference to a prisoner to realise people around the world care, and remember them.
Lesley Marshall
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Public Lending Right Advisory Group Representatives Report 2018

There have been several positive changes to the PLR during the last period. These include on‐
line registration for authors with no new titles and a stream‐lining of the payment process
which delivered earlier payouts in 2017.
The tenure of NZSA's previous representatives on the PLRAG, Neville Peat and Karen Trebilcock,
concluded in 2017. We thank them for their contributions in representing the interests of
writers over the last five years.
There has, as yet, been no further PLRAG meeting since the appointment of new
representatives ‐ the annual February meeting having been delayed due to the change of
government. It is expected the next meeting will be held late May.
National Council's current long‐term Strategic Objectives for PLR are:

• Exploring options for adding e‐books and audio books to the scheme.

• Establishment of an ELR

• Increasing the PLR fund in line with CPI

• Payments are paid on actual holdings rather than estimated from survey.

• Writers with no new titles do not have to register every year to qualify for
payment for existing registered titles.
• Writers with new titles may register titles on‐line.

• Writers are able to check their status.
As NZSA's representatives on the PLRAG, we shall continue to advocate on behalf of
NZSA to progress these objectives wherever possible.

Kyle Mewburn
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AGM 2018 report

BURNS FELLOWSHIP SELECTION COMMITTEE REPORT

As David Howard reported last year, the panel are not permitted to discuss the confidential
proceedings of the Burns fellowship selection.
Therefore, all I can say is that there was a range of applications submitted,
which covered play writing, non‐fiction, poetry and fiction.
The decision regarding Rhian Gallagher's appointment was unanimous.

Majella Cullinane
3.4.18
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WeCreate
Jenny Nagle attended the WeCreate
Special Meeting 2017 AGM on 19 October
2017.

Paula Browning was re‐elected as We Create Chair and Victoria Blood and Sandy Gildea head up the
Working Group.
A new organizational structure was proposed and adopted to allow for the ‘Plan for a Plan’ to be
implemented.
Members of We Create Inc have been divided into industry sector groups to deliver an Action Plan
so that we will all ready with in‐depth submissions to respond to the issues paper for the review of
the Copyright Act.
Paula and Victoria have set up a series of meetings with the various government departments and
stakeholders to discuss issues of ownership of work by content creators and the implications a Fair
Use policy would bring upon the creative industries. Rather than “promoting creativity’ the buzz
phrase peddled by the tech giants – it would in effect strangle the creative industries.
It was felt the most effective way to present this is to provide and reinforce the contribution to GDP
throughout all the creative sectors. Hence working groups have been set up through the different
sectors ie music, software and games, literary arts.
NZSA, CLNZ and PANZ are the members in the working group sector for the literary arts and are in
the midst of producing a value chain narrative – both quantified in economic terms and the impact
Fair Use legislation would have on the earnings of the content creators, publishers’ et al.
The sector is also looking for more support for Brand NZ for the Creative Sector in export support as
awarded to other industries by NZTE. Therefore the reports will measure the economic earnings by
creative people and industries and the impact this has on other sectors. With a change of
government we can also include the impact apropos of the framework of wellbeing for communities.
We Create aims to start many Creative Economy conversations with government to outline both the
true economic value to GDP and export but also the untapped potential of these industries. We
advocate for better representation of Brand NZ at home and abroad.
First drafts of Action Plans should be ready in June 2018.
Jenny Nagle
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Remit 1: Update of Constitution
Proposed by National Council
That the previously circulated changes to the New Zealand Society of Authors
(Pen NZ Inc) constitution be adopted.

Rationale:
The proposed changes incorporate amendments previously made by
resolution of the AGM, correct spelling mistakes, simplify wording and bring
the constitution up to date with current practice. Where any change additional
to these is proposed, this is explained in the comments attached to the file, as
below.

Proposed amendments to be discussed at the 2018 AGM
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Remit for the 2018 AGM of the
The New Zealand Society of Authors (PEN NZ Inc.)

Hamilton Branch Remit
The following remit was unanimously supported by members present at the Hamilton
Branch AGM, Sunday April 15, in Cambridge.

Remit No. 2. – Complimentary membership for branch office holders
All regional branches shall have up to 3 complimentary memberships per
year that can be bestowed upon the Branch office holders of Chair, Secretary
and Treasurer as recompense for their voluntary hours in support of the
regional branch.

Rationale:
Office holders undertake many hours of work in promoting Branch events,
managing meetings and communicating with Branch membership and other
parties as required. Complimentary NZSA memberships for Branch office
holders would serve to recognise and offer some recompense for those
unpaid hours.
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